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1. Name of Property
historic name Murray Hill Summer Home District

other names/site number

2. Location

street & number Murray Hill Road (roughly between Cass Mill Road and nl alnot for publication

city, town Hill Lynch Road) n{ a] vicinity

state New Hampshire code NH county Merrimack code NH 013 zip code 03243

3. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
private ] building(s) Contributing Noncontributing
public-local [ X] district 19 5 buildings
[] public-State [ Isite 2 0 sites
[] public-Federal [ structure 0 0 structures

[_] object 0 C___ objects

21 5 Total
Name of related multiple property listing: Number of contributing resources previously
N/A listed in the National Register

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this
. nomination [_] request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.
In my opinion, the property Bl meets [ ] does not meet the National Register criteria. [ ]see continuation sheet.

JAN 2 81388

” fa
Signature of certifying official // } \% f Z ! Z é Date

State or Federal agency and Bureau “ New Ham pshire

In my opinion, the property [_Imeets [_Idoes not meet the National Register criteria. []see continuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification
1, h;weby, certify that this propenrty is:

Iz, entered in the National Register. m b\) / /

|:]See continuation sheet. ) )(] VJAAAA 1} / 7 g (S/

I:Idetermined eligible for the National / /
Register. D See continuation sheet.

Ddetermined not eligible for the
National Register.

Dremoved from the National Register.

[:l other, (explain:)

"

‘/M \Signa(ure of the Keeper Date of Action



6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC/Single Dwelling

DOMESTIC/Secondary Structure

Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)

"DOMESTIC/S1ngle bDwelllng

DOMESTIC/Secondary Structure

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(enter categories from instructions)

Colonial Revival

Shingle Style

Materials (enter categories from instructions)

foundation STONE/Granite

walls WOOD/Weatherboard
WOOD/Shingle

roof AS PHALT

other

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

The Murray Hill Summer Home District consists of a series of late eighteenth
and early nineteenth century farmhouses and associated outbuildings which were
purchased, subtly altered and used as summer residences from 1873-1937. The
architectural fabric of the district consists of eight renovated farmhouses and
associated outbuildings, two shingle style residences and associated outbuildings,
one contributing historic site and one non-contributing mid-20th century
residence. All but one of the contributing residences are regularly spaced along the
north side of Murray Hill Road between Cass Mill road and Dickinson Hill Road.

The dwellings are set amid early 19th century stone walls, secondary growth forest,
mid 19th century orchards and hayfields; Murray Hill Road is a narrow, paved, rural
road, lined with stone walls, secondary growth forest and New England scrub growth.
A neighborhood cemetery and local schoolhouse remain from the agricultural period
as do some of the hayfields which have remained open since the summer home period
to retain views of the Smith River Valley and White Mountain foothills north

of the district. The buildings and setting retain integrity of design, setting,
workmanship, materials, feeling, association and location from their late 19th and
early 20th renaissance as leisure family summer/vacation homes. Although some
properties have experienced modifications subsequent to the period of significance,
these do not interfere with integrity. 1In a few cases more recent structures have
been introduced, and these are noted an noncontributing.

The Murray Hill Summer Home Historic District is situated in the Lakes Region
of Central New Hampshire. The numerous lakes and surrounding hills and mountains
form the geographic transition between the White Mountains to the north and the
Merrimack and Pemigewasset River basins to the south and east. Throughout the
region, small villages and towns have developed along the river valleys, and
farmsteads scatter the hillsides. The Lakes Region hills consist of gneissic and

L'XI See continuation sheet



8. Statement of Significance

Centifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:
D nationally statewide [:l locally

Applicable National Register Criteria X]A [ ]8 []lc []b

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ JA [ ]B [Jc [o [Je [JF [e

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates

Other: Summer Vacation Home Movement 1873-1937

Cultural Affiliation

Significant Person Architect/Builder

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.

The Murray Hill Summer Home District is eligible for the National Register of
Historic Places under Criteria A as an early example of the summer vacation
home movement in New Hampshire. It possesses integrity of location, design,
setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and association. The district's period
of significance begins in 1873 with the first purchase of a failing farm for use
as a summer retreat. From that time into the 1940's farms are purchased, renovated,
and utilized seasonally during the summer months by families primarily from the
Boston area. These homes and their settlement, development and decline as farmsteads
are representative of most late nineteenth century rural New England. The
renaissance of these farms along Murray Hill Road as summer homes represent the
earliest known example of the middle class, rural seasonal vacationer in New
Hampshire - a trend which continues in the district ( and in'New Hampshire) to the
present.

The Murray Hill Summer Home District represents a significant trend in
mid-late nineteenth century New Hampshire history. As the industrial revolution
progressed, the middle and upper urban classes sought refuge from the city heat and
"unhealthy' atmosphere. The mechanization of agriculture, the lure of the cities
and the attraction of midwest agricultural fertility drew the rural New England
populace away from the farm. As the railroad made rural New England produce more
accessible to urban markets, it made the New Englan d countryside more accessible
to the summer vacationer and to families escaping the city for an extended summer
season.

New Hampshire's mountain scenery, freshwater lakes and sandy ocean beaches were
prime attractions for Boston and New York businessmen and artists. Clear water
springs and natural mountain 'wonders' such as at Mount Washington and Dixville Notch
attracted large summer hotels and resorts.

IESee continuation sheet



9. Major Bibliographical References
Bristol Enterprise. '"Reminiscences of Hill and Her People". August 12, 1909. Bristol, NH.

Bristol Enterprise. Numerous Articles Related to Architectural Building Changes.
July 2, 1891; Dec. 31, 1908; July 22, 1909; Sept. 16, 1909; Oct. 14, 1909; Jan. 6, 1910;
Apr. 7, 1910; Oct. 27, 1910; May 15, 1913; Oct. 2, 1913.

Boston and Lowell Railroad. Summer Saunterings by the Boston and Lowell. Boston:
Publisher unknown. 1885.

Chandler, John. '"Dickerson Hill School, District Number 3, New Chester". Unpublished
Article. Chandler manuscript collection.

Chandler, John. "History of North Acres'". Unpublished manuscript. Chandler manuscript
collection.

Morrill, Mildred T. et als. Hill, the 01ld and the New 1754-1976. Hill NH: Town of
Hill, 1976.

[X] See continuation sheet
Previous documentation on file (NPS):

] preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) Primary location of additional data:
has been requested [] state historic preservation office
[l previously listed in the National Register [_] other State agency
[:] previously determined eligible by the National Register |:| Federal agency
[:Idesignated a National Historic Landmark [ ]Local government
[:] recorded by Historic American Buildings [] University
Survey # ] other
[Irecorded by Historic American Engineering Specify repository:
Record #

10. Geographical Data
Acreage of property __ 108 Acres

UTM References

ALY (2]7610,1,0) 4,8]2,410,5,0] B|L,9] |2]7,610,1,0] |4,8[2,4]0,3,5]
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
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E|L,9 m7|3|£l8L8J ‘4]8!2|5!O|0|5 I []see continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description Boundaries of the nominated district are highlighted in yellow
on the attached sketch map. (Map and parcel numbers appear with owner information.) The
boundaries of the Murray Hill Summer Home District run from the east property line of
the Carrie Collins House to the Lynch Road on the west. North and south boundary lines
are 400' back from the center line of Murray Hill Road.

E] See continuation sheet

Boundary Justification Boundaries have been drawn to include the grouping of summer home
properties along Murray Hill Road which form a cohesive unit qualifying for the National
Register of Historic Places. These boundaries include the buildings and immediate
setting important to the character and significance of the area, but does not incorporate
more extensive holdings whose integrity for the period of significance is less direct.

[ ] see continuation sheet
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Resource Number Historic Name Tax Parcel Number Current Owner

1, 1A Carrie Murdock R3-53 Richard and Evajean Mintz

Collins House

63 Atlantic Avenue
Boston, Mass 02110

2, 2A, 2B Alice Brown R3-52 Stanley Szwed Estate
House (Merrymead) R3-57 (Elizabeth Szwed)
Hill, NH 03243
3 Open Field R3-51 Patricia and Glenn Gunn
1385 North River Road
Manchester, NH 03104
4 Donald Wilson R3-50 Thomas & Michelle Wolfson
House Star Route 1, Box 1035
Bristol, NH 03222
5, 5A Walter Swan R3—-44,R3-45 John A. Thierry
House R3-56,R4-28 Hill, NH 03243
R3-57 ‘
6,6A, Chandler House R3-40 John Chandler
~6B,6C and Schoolhouse R4-26 Hill, NH 03243
7.7A Harold Murdock/ R3-39 Robert & Kathleen
James Conant House Schumacher
Hill, NH 03243
8 Mosher House R4-25 Martin & Harriet Wasserman
1410 Van Nostrand Place
Merrick, NY 11566
9 Murray Hill Cemetery N/A Town of Hill
Hill, NH 03243
10 Ida Hope House R3-38 Peter Dubois

26 John Street
Reading, MA 01867
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11,11A,11B Louise Murdock Swan R4-24 Martin & Harriet Wasserman
House (Hill Croft) 1410 Van Nostrand Place
Merrick, NY 11566
12, 12A Favor—-Murdock House R3-34 Mary L. Thompson
(Far View) 6 Auburn Street
South Natick, MA 01760
13,13A,13B Charles Pillsbury R3-33 Winton & Ann Bennett
House (Rockhurst) R4-22 Hill, NH 03243
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granitic soils ranging 1,000 to 2,000 feet above sea level.
Murray Hill Road traverses the town of Hill, New Hampshire,
connecting Hill Center with the Smith River and the town of
Danbury. The road crosses a plateau-like terrace (elev. 1,000
ft), on the northern slopes of Page Mountain (elev. 1600 ft) and
Dickinson Hill (elev. 1800 ft). ©North of Murray Hill Road, the
land slopes to the shores of the Smith River (elev. 600 ft).
Today, the entire region is almost completely covered with
secondary growth forest with the exception of those fields which
are kept open to provide views of the Smith River Valley and the
White Mountain foothills beyond. Very little farming remains
active in the region.

The Murray Hill Rural Summer Home Historic District consists
of 108 acres at elevations of 700-1100 feet in the northwest
section of Hill, New Hampshire. Several small brooks drain the
district from the peaks of Page and Dickinson Hills to the Smith
River. District properties bound Murray Hill Road between Cass
Mill Road and Lynch (Dickerson Hill) Road.* Stone House
(Rayno's) Road and Brown Road intersect Murray Hill Road within
the district boundaries. Brown Road was once the main road
connecting Murray Hill farms with industries and farmsteads in
the Burrough and Profile Falls, two settlement nodes within the
town of Hill. Lynch (Dickerson Hill) Road and Stone House
(Rayno's) Road connected the Murray Hill farmsteads with
settlements at the top of Page Mountain and Dickinson Hill,
respectively. Farm roads which once formed the internal network
between house and field are still visible but have only limited
accessibility to four wheel drive vehicles. An eighteenth/early
nineteenth century road from Brown Road to the settlement on
Dickinson Hill was abandoned when Murray Hill Road was extended
(ca. 1808) from Hill Center to George's Mills in Danbury. The
road had been used as a walking path and tertiary access road
into the early twentieth century; today., the road is almost
undiscernible through the secondary forest growth. Similarly, a
cart road off of Lynch Road was built to reduce the road grade
up Dickinson Hill for horses, oxen and wagons; today, only the
opening where the land has been compacted is visible. Stone

*x*The spelling of the Dickinson family name and geographical or
topographical names associated with the family have been spelled
‘Dickinson' or ‘Dickerson’' equally in both historic and
contemporary documents.
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walls are extensive throughout the district, many of which mark
property lines, original proprietary lot divisions, farm fields
anc roadbeds.

The district is comprised of 2 entire and 3 partial original
proprietor's lots for the town of Alexandria, and 2 full and 1
partial original proprietor's lots for the town of New Chester.
(1). On December 21, 1820 New Chester and Alexandria exchanged
lands, creating a new town boundary along the Smith River. (2).
The town of New Chester was renamed Hill on January 14, 1837 in
honor of Hon. Isaac Hill, then governor of the state. (3). On
July 1, 1868 the town of Hill was disannexed from Grafton County
and became a part of Merrimack County. (4).

These political boundary changes affected the ‘neighborhood’
of Murray Hill very little. 1Instead, road orientation and
topography were the key factors in establishing the social,
commercial and economic network of the Murray Hill farms. Those
properties in the eastern portion of the district associated
with the schools and mills in the Burrough, a small settlement
along the Smith River east of the district. Those farmsteads in
the western portions of the district were linked with the
farmsteads on Dickerson Hill, and did business with the mills at
George's Mills in Danbury. (5).

Numerous land divisions and complicated title transactions
have masked the original ‘patterns of property ownership in the
late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries. (6). The influx
of summer visitors to the region, beginning with John Murdock in
1873, drastically affected the land ownership patterns and
neighborhood definition along Murray Hill Road. While the early
nineteenth century farmsteads had been linked to areas beyond
the district for economic and/or commerical and social reasons,
it was the influence of the summer residents which linked the
district as a neighborhood. John N. Murdock purchased large
tracts of land along Murray Hill Road, Lynch Road, and Stone
House Road, and re-subdivided the land among his relatives and
friends. The Snow family purchased large tracts in the eastern
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end of the district. In many cases lands were purchased to
provide buffers to the summer residences. The district's
period of significance is 1873-1937 as a summer home district
whose residents were linked socially and in many cases WwWith
familial ties, uniting the farmsteads into a collection of
summer retreats.

Properties are numbered and keyed to the accompanying sketch
map. All buildings are numbered east to west through the
district along Murray Hill Road.

1. The Carrie Murdock Collins Home, ca.1810 with 20th century
modifications, contributing building.

This farmstead was originally part of Proprietor's lot #41
in the town of New Chester. The property was operated
throughout the last half of the nineteenth century as one of the
largest farms in the district. By 1850, at age 47, John
Follansbee had cleared 190 acres of farmland, and owned another
110 acres of woodlot. (7). Between 1850 and 1880 30 acres of
farmland were returned to woodland, illustrating the changes in
farm economy in the region. The farm produced large quantities
of wool, butter, cheese, molasses, potatoes, wheat, corn and
orchard products. Between 1870-1890, under the ownership of
Jacob Hall, the farm produced large amounts of board lumber
(undoubtedly for the shingle and saw mills nearby) and maple
sugar in addition to the traditional farm crops. (8).

Carrie M. Collins, daughter of John N. Murdock, owned the
property in the early twentieth century. Under her ownership,
in 1910, Mrs. Collins added more windows and took off the
clapboards, replacing them with shingles. (9). She also added
an oriel window to the east end of the shed. Other changes
which may be attributed to Mrs. Collins include changes in
fenestration (the addition of double and triple windows),
dormers added on the wing and the shed, addition of another
oriel window, and the addition of a privy. In 1983 the dormer
on the north slope of the main house roof was replaced by a
larger dormer and the east porch was added. 1In 1984 a new
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porch replaced an earlier porch on the west facade. (10). These
recent changes have not effectively changed the appearance of
the structure.

Today, the house i1s surrounded by open hay fields which
slope away from the house into secondary growth woodlands. The
fields remain open to retain a view of the mountains which rise
beyond the Smith River Valiey. Stone walls line the property
boundaries and the road, except for the area immediately in
front of the house which has no fencing or stone walls. Large
daylily beds and a few large trees (pines and small hardwoods)
dot the lawn area around the house. An unedged dirt driveway
leads directly in from the street to the barn doors anc to the
garage behind the house.

The main block consists of a one and one half story,
shingled, gable roofed cape with a one story, gable roofed,
screened porch on its west gable end and a small, shed roofed
entry porch on the east gable end. A small, one and one half
story, gable-roofed shingled ell is attached to the northeast
corner of the cape. Connected to the east side of the ell is a
long, one and one half story gable roofed shingled shed with a
small wooden deck and a one story gable-roofed privy on its
north (rear) facade. The main house is set on a split granite
foundation. The asphalt shingled roof is trimmed by close
verges, close eaves on the south front and a simple box cornice
on the north facade. A massive brick chimney with concrete
capped flue pierces the center of the roof. A wide, shed-roofed
wood-shingled dormer covers the north slope of the roof,
characterized by cornerboards, close verges, a simple lateral
box cornice and three plain frame windows, two of which are six
over six, the third is a central plate glass picture window
flanked by four over four sash windows.

The five bay south facade (front) has a central entry with
four panel door whose plain frame runs to the eaves. Nine over
six sash windows characterize most windows in the house. A
paneled door with a nine pane window opens onto the east entry
porch. This porch has a single plain corner post, a beveled
board ceiling, simple lateral box cornice and a wooden shingled
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half gable with close verges. A plain frame door with nine pane
window flanked by abutting 9 pane windows open onto the screened
porch at the west gable end of the house. The porch has a
latticework base with board trim, large plain frame screened
panels on all sides and a screen door opening at the north end,
simple lateral box cornices and an asphalt shingled gable roof.

The small ell is set on a split granite foundation; the
asphalt shingled gable roof is trimmed by close verges, close
eaves on the east and a simple box cornice on the west. The
west slope of the roof is pierced by a wide shed roofed dormer.
The dormer has six plain framed, diamond paned windows and is
topped by a simple lateral cornice with sloping soffit. The ell
has a paneled door with built-in window opening onto the cape's
east entry porch, and a modern, four pane casement window with
simple molded frame in the south gable. All other windows in
the ell are six over six, with the exception of an oriel window
in the north gable, with three diamond paned windows sharing a
continuous sill and plain frame beneath a steeply pitched,
asphalt shingled hip roof. This facade also features an
exterior concrete block chimney with brick base and a metal
bulkhead with concrete base.

The long shed which abuts the east side of the ell is set on
a fieldstone and granite block foundation. The wooden shingled
shed walls are trimmed by cornerboards, close verges, close
eaves on the south and no eaves on the north; that section of
the north wall covered by the connector still has vertical
boarding. The north slope of the asphalt shingled roof is
pierced by a long, shed roofed dormer with wood-shingled walls,
cornerboards, close verges, simple lateral box cornice and ten
plain framed six over six windows, placed in two groups of five
with shared sills and separate frames. The main level of the
shed is 1it with plain framed six over six windows. Plain
frames surrounded the five kneewall windows and the doors (two
sliding beaded board doors on the south facade, a four panel
door on the east, and two beaded board doors on the north). The
east gable contains another oriel window with a tapered wooden
shingled base, plain framed twelve pane casement windows and a
wooden shingled hip roof. The north doors open onto a small
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wooden deck and the privy's connecting walkway (which has
lattice-work sides). The wooden deck has a high board base, a
board floor, and board steps with a simple wooden railing at the
east end. The privy and connector share the same asphalt
shingled gable roof, trimmed by a simple cornice with sloping
soffit and frieze. Because of the slope of the land, the shed's
north facade has a high foundation. The privy is wooden
shingled with cornerboards. A plain framed panel door in the
privy's south facade opens onto the connector. The north gable
end has a cleanout board door at the base and two high plain
framed, six pane windows.

1A. Garage/Shed Complex. 20th century (pre 1930), contributing
building.

North and slightly east of the house is the garage/shed
complex consisting of four, one story units: a gable-roofed
garage and three shed roofed sheds. -

The garage sits on a concrete foundation with wood shingled
walls, cornerboards, plain window and door trim, close verges,
open lateral eaves with exposed rafters and friezes, and an
asphalt shingled gable roof. Two modern overhead garage doors
with a concrete ramp are located on the west gable end. The
south facade has a five panel door and nine pane window. Two
nine pane windows light the east gable end. A wooden shingled
and tarpaper shed with asphalt shingled shed roof abuts the
north side of the garage. The north side has a wide opening,
partially covered by a board door. Another shed abuts the east
end of this building, consisting of horizontal board walls, open
lateral eaves with exposed rafters, and a shed roof sheathed
with asphalt roll paper. This shed has three windowless
openings, two of which have been enlarged to create doorless
openings. The north facade abuts another shed with vertical
boarding on the east end and horizontal boarding on the north.
The west facade is entirely open. Open lateral eaves with
exposed rafters trim the asphalt shingled shed roof. A doorless
opening pierces the east facade. Although undistinguished
architecturally, this utilitarian structure derives from the
period of significance.
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2. Alice Brown House (Merrymead). earlv nineteenth centurvy with
substantial 20th centurv modifications (1908-09),
contributing building.

Originally, this entire farmstead was part of Proprietor's
Lot #42 in New Chester. Stone walls still delineate all of the
early property lines. Murray Hill Road crossed through the
middle of the property. Today, land ownership continues on both
sides of the road. Early history of the house is uncertain.
Differing sources state that the building was either built
elsewhere and relocated here, or the current building replaced
an earlier structure that was destroyed by fire. 1In 1850 this
farmstead consisted of 50 acres, 30 of which were improved and
supported a small subsistence farm. Nason Cass, his wife and
two children operated this farmstead from the 1840's through the
1860's raising the family cow, 2-5 sheep, one pig, a few bushels
of potatoes, corn, oats, peas and beans, hay and enough butter
for family consumption.(1l1l). Alvin Batchelder purchased the
farmstead before 1870 and combined the land with other fields to
operate a 160 acre farmstead of which the biggest ‘crops' were
wood and slaughtered animals. Batchelder is listed as a
blacksmith in the 1870 census records. (12). A handwritten
account from ca. 1900 indicates that "the iong shed at the
Batchelder place was made of the old Emmons house, cut in
halfs". (13). Most of the Emmons homestead buildings which sat
near the corner of Murray Hill and Lynch Roads were relocated
and reused by the Murdock family. The Bartlett family owned the
property between 1893 and 1908.

Alice Brown, noted turn of the century author, purchased the
house and seventy acres of land in 1908 and made extensive
renovations, including the addition of a large wing, porches,
second floor extensions, and dormers. She is also probably
responsible for changing the house sheathing from clapboard to
wooden shingles. (14) . Brown used the property has a summer
retreat from her home in Cambridge. In 1923 Brown purchased the

house and three acres next door to the west (#4). In 1927 she
sold all of her Murray Hill holdings in one deed transaction to
Donald Willson, a classmate of Kenneth Murdock's. (15). Willson

retained the property's use as a summer residence; the house
next door was reserved as a guest cottage.
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The present owners made a few minor alterations in the late
1950's and early 1960's, including removing doors in the main
block and wing, removing the west dormer on the main block, and
a window in the west gable of the main wing, and removing a
walkway from the house to the barn. At the same time they
replaced windows in the eastern shed dormer, replaced the west
door in the small wing, and installed kitchen windows in the
small wing. (16). The structure's character is nevertheless
clearly that created by Alice Brown in establishing this as her
summer retreat.

Today, the house and barn sit back slightly from the road,
surrounded by a small front yard ringed with perennial borders.
Two or three large maples are located near the house yard,
otherwise the house sits in a large open hay field with a good
view of the mountains and Smith River Valley beyond the fields.
All of the 2.5 acres on the north side of Murray Hill Road are
open space. Of the 21 acres on the south side of the road, only
15% is open space, surrounding the ‘Forge', the rest of the
acreage 1s largely secondary growth forest.

The present wooden shingled house may have begun as a Gothic
Revival cottage. The one and one half story, gable roofed main
block is set on a field stone and concrete foundation. The
north gable end is clapboarded with cornerboards on the visible
first story. A plain wooden cornice with sloping soffit and
narrow frieze trims the asphalt shingled gable roof. A wide
shingled shed dormer with close verges and shallow simple
cornice with sloping soffit and narrow frieze pierces the east
slope of the roof. This dormer has four paired single pane,
awning type windows. The rest of the main portion of the house
is 1lit with double, nine over six windows with plain frames and
shutters. A long, one story veranda covers and extends beyond
the north end of the house, covered by a clapboard and shingled
second story dormer, trimmed cornerboards, close verges, plain
wide cornice with sloping soffit and frieze on the east, and a
plain shallow cornice on the west. The asphalt shingled gable
roof of the dormer continues the ridge line of the house.
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A wing extends from the house's west facade. The addition
is sheathed with wooden shingles on two sides and with
clapboards on the north facade. Windows are nine over six sash.
The asphalt shingled gable roof is trimmed by a simple wide
cornice on the west gable; lateral eaves are hidden by the porch
roofs. A wide, plain, brick chimney is found at the west end of
the roof ridge, and shed roof dormers extend from both slopes of
the roof. Both dormers are wood shingled, with close verges,
plain cornices with sloping soffits and friezes, and low pitched
roofs; both dormers have a double window with plain frame and
six over six sash. The northern dormer has cornerboards and a
plain framed four panel door opening onto the roof of the
veranda. The south (road) facade of the wing is spanned by an
open porch and contains the main entry: a paneled door with
built-in nine pane window, flanked on each side by a nine over
six window.

The north veranda is eight bays long and two bays deep with
a concrete block foundation at one end and concrete and wooden
posts supporting a board floor with concrete steps on the north
bay, west end and wooden steps on the south. Square wooden
posts support a board and plywood ceiling with exposed rafters.
Balustrades with square balusters and simply moulded rails are
found only on the eastern extension and the western end. The
veranda is covered with an asphalt shingled hip roof on the
eastern extension, by the second story addition, and by a low
pitched shed roof on the west end. This shed roof is surrounded
by a simple railing with plain wooden posts and rails.

Another wing covers the entire west gable end of the main
wing. This addition is set on concrete block foundation,
sheathed with wooden shingles, trimmed by cornerboards, plain
window and door trim and a plain box cornice, covered with an
asphalt shingled gable roof. Nine over six and single pane
windows light this addition. The three bay west gable end has a
central paneled door with built-in nine pane window, concrete
steps and two nine over six windows.
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2A. Alice Brown (Merrvmead) Barn. Late 19th century.
contributing building.

Just northwest of the house stands the two story, gable
roofed barn sheathed with wooden shingles (added in the late
1950's) on the north, horizontal boarding in the west gable and
vertical boarding elsewhere. The barn sits on a fieldstone
foundation with plain or no-trim windows and doors, close
verges, close eaves on the north facade, no eave trim on the
south, and a corrugated plastic roof. Because of the slope of
the land, only the upper story is exposed on the east gable end;
in the center of this facade is a wide sliding board door with
semicircular stone landing with fieldstone steps. South of this
door is another, smaller sliding barn door. The south facade
has an overhead garage door in the lower level and three nine
pane windows in the upper story. The north iracade has a board
door and a wide doorless opening in the lower level, a sixteen
pane window and a triple window opening in the upper story. The
west gable end has a single six pane window in the upper and
lower stories, the upper window sheltered with a simple hood
with plain braces, close verges and an asphalt shingled shed
roof. The north gable end has a boarded over gable window and a
central sliding door in the upper level.

2B. Merrymead ‘Forge', late 19th century with early 20th century
modifications (ca. 1910), contributing building.

Across the road from the house and barn sits a long, 1 1/2
story, gable roofed rectangular structure with a small one story
shed roofed entry porch on the southwest side. Like the house,
there are conflicting reports concerning the origin of this
building. One story indicates that the building was moved from
the Emmons farm (on the south corner of Murray Hill and
Dickinson Hill Roads) (17); another indicates it was built by A.
J. Batchelder as a blacksmith shop from a barn that he took down
(18); yet another indicates that ‘The Forge' was a literary name
for Alice Brown's writing studio, having remodeled her studio
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from an earlier building.(19). Given the known history of the
house, it is possible that all three of these stories have a
ring of truth. In any event, the present appearance of the
building, with its shingled walls and simple detailing, date
from the Alice Brown period.

Today, the building sits at the edge of the road across from
the main house and barn, at the edge of a small hay field. 1In
the late 1960's a small entry porch was added to the building,
and a double window installed on the north facade, otherwise the
building is wvirtually unchanged from the early 20th century.

The wood shingled building is set on a stone and concrete
foundation, trimmed by cornerboards, plain window and door
frames, close verges and plain lateral box cornices. A wide
plain brick chimney pierces the ridge of the asphalt shingled
roof. The road facade has two long single pane high windows with
top hinged six pane sash set so high in the wall that their
frames abut the cornice, a long sextuple window to the west and
a triple window to the east. All other windows are nine over
six sash with the exception of a triple window on the southeast
facade with central nine over six sash window flanked by
fifteen-pane casement windows. At the west end of this facade
1s the only door, a five panel door sheltered by the entry porch
(ca. 1960) with its brick floor, two plain wooden posts .
supporting a beam and the exposed rafters, board ceiling and
simple, asphalt shingled shed roof.

3. Open FiéldL contributing site.

West of the Alice Brown house the road vista opens into a
large, ten acre meadow ringed with hardwood forest. This field
was once part of the Alice Brown estate, but now has come under
separate ownership from that of the house.

At the roadside, the field is bordered by scattered clumps
of pine and ash. No stone walls line the roadside or the edges
of the field. To the west, the field is bordered by hardwood
forest and ferns which line both sides of a small brook which
drains Page Mountain. To the north, the field is backdropped by
a picturesque view of the forest-covered mountains.
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4. Donald Willson House, early 19th century with 20th century
modifications, contributing building.

This property and the adjacent property to the west were
originally owned and farmed by the Murray family. 0ld
photographs indicate the house dates to the early nineteenth
century as an early cape with eaves just above the door and
window frames. In 1855 John H. Emmons acquired both properties
after a long lawsuit. (20) . He operated both properties and
other acreage to the east (later Alice Brown's) as a 200 acre
farm which produced large amounts of oats, wheat, corn,
potatoes, hay and animals for slaughter, as well as holding a
good size orchard and woodlot. (21). By 1870 Emmons had solé
three acres and this house to Samuel Gardner, a 73 year olad
shoemaker who kept one horse and farmed subsistence levels of
potatoes, orchard produce and hay. (22). By 1880 the house and
150 acres of land had been acquired by George Simonds who raised
sheep for wool and for slaughter, and average amounts of
potatoes, oats and corn, and large amounts of orchard produce.
(23). Turn of the century written accounts of Murray Hill
indicate that " the Emmons corn barn and shed went to the
Simonds place" (24) during the last decades of the nineteenth
century. The Simonds family owned the house and a remaining
three acres of land until George Simonds death in 1919. Alice
Brown purchased the property and house from his widow in 1923,
apparently using the house as a gquest residence. In 1927 Donald
Willson purchased the combined Alice Brown holdings and retained
their use as summer residence and guest house. (25). Willson
extensively remodeled the Simond's house, including raising the
roof, restoring window sash, adding a new north porch with
second story overhang, shed dormers, and a north addition on the
wing. (26). More recent 20th century changes include a concrete
block foundation added ca. 1975, and picture windows on the
north elevation in 1985. (27). These have not affected the
property's integrity for the period of significance.

Today the house sits in a small swale very close to Murray
Hill Road. ‘A few 20 year old birch and other hardwood trees
shade the house. To the east, a small orchard remains from the
earlier farming period. Daylilies and a small, cement capped
well dot the tiny front yard. More extensive perennial borders
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line old stone walls between the house and the orchard. The
house has a sloping, open half-acre back yard, ringed with
hardwood forest.

The high front clapboarded cape 1s set on a concrete block
foundation with cornerboards, close eaves and verges. A massive
brick chimney with corbeled cap pierces the asphalt shingled
roof near the ridge. The north slope of the roof is largely
pierced by a wide, shed-roofed clapboarded wall dormer with two
double one over one sash windows with plain frames and louvered
snutters. The three bay south facade has a central entry, four
pranel door with full eight pane sidelights, and a stone step.
The door and sidelights have a simple frame topped by a lintel
with drip moulding. Windows on all but the north elevation are
sixX over six sash with simple frames. The three bay rear
(north) facade has a central plain framed paneled door with
built-in multipaned window and two large picture windows. The
porch which covers this facade is sheltered partially by the
second story overhang and partially by an asphalt shingled and
metal sheathed hip roof. Because of the steep slope to the land
on this side, the porch has a high shingled base with
cornerboards and frieze. Turned posts support a beaded board
ceiling with exposed rafters and a box cornice with mouldings
and frieze. Railings with moulded top and bottom rails, and
vertical and horizontal struts arranged in rectangular patterns
protect the porch and the large screen panels.

A long one story wing partially covers the west gable end.
Set on concrete block foundation, this wood shingled element is
trimmed with plain window and door frames, a simple box cornice
on the north, close verges on the west gable end and no eaves to
the south. A tall brick chimney pierces the asphalt shingled
roof. The wing is divided between a kitchen to the east and a
shed to the west. The south facade contains a paneled door with
multipane window for the kitchen and a sliding beaded board door
with a small built-in window mounted on an exterior metal track
for the shed as well as two six over six windows. Another
paneled door with multipane window opens onto the veranda on the
east facade. The wing's west gable end is covered by a small
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woodshed with wooden shingled facades, one plain framed three
pane window, open eaves with exposed rafters and frieze, and an
asphalt shingled shed roof. The wing's north facade has two two
pane windows in the new concrete block basement, three one over
one sash windows, a short single pane window in the main level,
and a small addition, which covers the west half of the wing's
north facade and shares a high concrete basement with an
adjoining covered stairway. A modern two pane window lights the
basement. The main level is sheathed with wooden shingles
beneath close verges, a plain lateral box cornice and an asphalt
shingled shed roof. The addition is 1lit by a single pane window
on the north facade and a six pane window on the west, both with
plain frames. The covered stairway accesses the concrete
basement level, with a steep shed roof sheltering the descending
stairway. A paneled door with built-in window and simple
moulded frame serve as the rear entry at the basement level.

The northern half gable is filled by four large, plain framed
single pane windows, and the asphalt shingled shed roof is
trimmed by open eaves with exposed rafters and fascia boards.

5. The Walter Swan House, mid nineteenth century with 20th
century modifications, contributing building.

Though this house is reputed to be the oldest in the
district, its form dates its construction between 1830-1870. It
is possible that portions of an earlier house may be
incorporated into the wing of the present structure. The
house and surrounding acreage were once part of Proprietor's Lot
#29 of New Chester. The New Chester/Alexandria town line ran
diagonally northwest of the house. Border arguments between the
two towns resulted in the Murray family settlement straddling
both towns until the lines were changed in 1820. Originally the
farmstead of William Murray, the house and associated land were
lost to John H. Emmons along with the property and house next
door (# 4). John Emmons farmed both parcels of land as one of
the largest farms in the district through 1870. (28).
Agricultural census records indicate the farm produced large
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amounts of potatoes, animals for slaughter, corn, oats, hay and
orchard produce. William Joyce purchased the farm in 1875; he
continued farming, although on a much smaller scale (60 acres).
(29). In 1905, Walter and Louise Murdock Swan purchased the
property. (30). Their daughter, Gertrude Runkle, and four of
their grandchildren, sold the property out of the Swan family in
1959. (31). The Swans built a home at the corner of Murray
Hill and Dickerson Hill Road for theilir summer residence;
therefore they probably used this property as a guest or rental
house. The present owners acquired the house in 1965 for use as
a summer residence and later as a year-round home. (32). A
Victorian porch (added at an unknown date) and central chimney
were both removed by the early 20th century. Circa 1925 a shed
dormer was added to the south slope and then removed in the late
1960's. A small wing addition was introduced at the same time.
Also at this time triple windows and casement windows were
installed in the main wing. Ca. 1978 a shed dormer was added in
the north roof of the main house, triple windows and a rear
entry were added in the north facade and a new cornice was
introduced. In 1978-81 the large attached barn was remodeled
for use as a library. The exterior siding was reused on the
interior, and the barn received new exterior clapboards,

concrete foundation, windows, doors and cornice. Circa 1980
dormers were added to the main wing and in 1981 a screen porch
was installed. (33). These changes do not detract from the

integrity of the house complex.

The house sits behind a small front yard, north of Murray
Hill Road and amidst a large expanse of open hay field. The
view of the Smith River Valley and the mountains beyond is
spectacular. Late eighteenth and early nineteenth century stone
walls line the street and delineate some of the fields of the
early farmstead. Daylily beds and some hardwoods are the only
remnants of late nineteenth and early twentieth century
gardening efforts. Across Murray Hill Road, on its south side,
the property consists of woods which have grown up over the past
fifty years. This area was formerly all open. The only change
to it has been the growth of some hardwoods and some young
pines.
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The high fronted cape which serves as the main block of this
vernacular clapboarded house has a fieldstone and concrete block .
foundation, wide cornerboards, and an asphalt shingled gable
roof trimmed with a wide simple box cornice with plain
mouldings, vents i1n the soffits, frieze and returns. A wide,
shed roof dormer is attached to the north roof, 1lit by a
central triple window and two double windows, all with six over
six sash and plain trim. The five bay south facade has a
central eight panel door with granite step and nine over six
windows with louvred shutters. All other windows in this
portion of the house are nine over six on the first floor and
six over six in the gables. The three bay north facade has a
central entry, an eight panel door with granite step and five
pane, two-thirds sidelights above panels. The two side bays
have triple windows with nine over six sash.

Extending from the east gable end of the main block is a
long, one and one half story gable roofed clapboarded wing set
on a concrete block foundation. The wing is finished with
cornerboards, plain window and door frames, and simple wide
cornices with sloping soffits and narrow friezes. A brick
chimney and three dormers pierce the asphalt shingled roof. Two
of the dormers, located on the south elevation, are gable
roofed, clapboarded, and have cornerboards, simple box cornices
with friezes and six over six sash windows. The third, a wide,
shed roofed dormer on the north elevation, is also clapboarded
with cornerboards, plain box cornice with frieze and returns,
and two double and two single windows, all with 6/6 sash. The
six bay south facade of the wing has two paneled doors with
built-in windows and granite steps and four nine over six
windows with louvred shutters. The wing is offset slightly from
the main cape with a narrow west gable end almost entirely
occupied by an paneled door with multipane window. The four bay
north facade has two triple windows and a panel door with
built-in window which opens onto a screened porch which is set
on a platform with concrete posts, board floor and base. The
screened porch, slightly smaller than the platform, has plain
wooden posts, large screen panels, a western screen door with
granite steps, a clapboarded western half gable, close verges, a
plain lateral box cornice, and a low pitched shed roof.
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Perpendicular to the cape and extending from the wing
extension is another one story, clapboarded, gable roofed wing
set on a concrete and concrete block foundation. This wing has
pPlain window and door trim, cornerboards, a cornice with sloping
soffit and narrow frieze. Because of the slope of the land, the
north end of the wing is almost half a story taller than the
southern end. The one bay north gable end contains double
multipane glass doors with wooden frames and granite steps which
serve the studio in this end of the wing. High above the doors
is a long window, seven panes wide but only a single pane high.
A similar window, fifteen panes long and one pane high, lights
the studio from the west facade which also includes an eight
panel door which opens onto the screen porch. The east facade
has a large, tall triple window with plate glass central window
and flanking twelve over nine sash windows. Two double windows
and a single window light the southern portion of the east
facade, all with nine over six glass.

Stretching east from the south gable end of the wing is a
two story, clapboarded, gable roofed barn, set on concrete
foundation with two overhead garage doors opening into a
basement garage. The barn is decorated with cornerboards, plain
box cornice with frieze and returns, and an asphalt shingled
roof. The three bay west gable end has a central entry - paired
multipane glass doors with wooden frames, granite steps and
outer double sliding board doors mounted on an exterior track
hidden by a board hood. The entry is flanked by double windows
with nine over six sash. Above the entry door is a short but
wide triple window with eight pane sash. The gable contains two
six over six sash windows and high in the apex are two abutting
windows with eight pane sash, and plain frames. The north and
south facades feature high triple windows with eight pane sash.
The north facade has three bays with a large plate glass picture
window in the central bay.
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5A. Woodshed, ca. 1980, noncontributing building.

East of the house sits a small woodshed built in 1980 for
the present owner. The one story structure 1s set on concrete
posts with cement board covering the base. It has vertical
board sheathing, open eaves with exposed rafters and fascia
boards. The asphalt shingled gable roof is asymmetrical with a
longer northeast (rear) slope. The only openings are two wide
plain framed orvenings with canted corners in the southwest
facade.

6. Chandler House (North Acres), ca. 1800 with 19th and 20th
century modifications, contributing building.

This house, barn and surrounding acreage is entirely within
Proprietor's Lot #72, Alexandria. The lot was subdivided in
April, 1806 by William and Jane Murray, and deeded portions to
their sons David T. and Samuel. Mention of Samuel Murray's
house is shown in this deed transaction. (34) . In 1820, when
Alexandria transfered lot No. 72 to New Chester, Samuel Murray
owned approximately 70 acres. In 1829, Samuel Murray sold the
western 42 acres to his nephew, Sewall Dickinson, who built his
house, Brookside (#8). (35). A late nineteenth century account
of Murray Hill relates the transaction as follows: "The Dana
Dickinson place was settled by Deacon Murray, who married Sewall
Dickinson's aunt. Sewall went to take care of them, they did
not agree, so he built Brookside. Sargent tried to take care of
them then traded with Morrill Dickinson, who took care of the
Murrays." (36).

Morrill Dickinson is listed as owner/manager of a 95 acre
farm in 1850, raising average amounts of wheat, rye, corn, oats,
wool, potatoes, and orchard produce. Animal stock included a
few milk cows (3-4), 2 oxen, 4 other cattle, 11-22 sheep, and 1
swine. Morrill Dickinson continued to farm the property until
1878 when property ownership was transfered to Dana Dickinson.
(37). The property remained in the Dickinson family until
1927. 1In 1929, the property was purchased by the family of the
present owners, the Chandlers. (38).

Though the property continued to be farmed throughout the
nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, the house began to
take in summer boarders in an effort to accommodate the new
‘tourists' to the region. 1In 1879, Mrs. Swan wrote from the
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house: "We are comfortably settled at Mr. Morrill Dickerson's.
The family consists of o0ld Mr. D., his wife and sister, his son
Dana and his wife and a baby boy. I have a pleasant large front
room and two small ones back of it. The house is quite old but
has been retouched with paint inside and my room has a
high-topped bedstead and pillow shams a dressing-case bureau
with hanging knobs and other things in that style. The children
and Mrs. P - are almost obliged to use a step ladder to get
into bed with, but they rest easily when there. We have a good
table everything clean and wholesome." (39).

Throughout the 1930's the Chandler family chronicled the
structural changes they made to their summer home. Annotated
photographs illustrate their thought process and the progression
of their work: "Mary's house as it was when she bought it. It
stood in an abandoned farm. It was a genuine o0ld type New
England house with central chimney and heavy timbers built about
1810. It was disfigured by a decrepit porch and an old shed.
The house after cleaning up and clearing away the old porch,
thus restoring the o0ld classic lines. The south front of the
house in its new coat of second-hand shutters. The old shed
also has been removed. The panorama of the White Mountains is
in the North. 40 acres of woods and old meadow were bought with

the house. The northern boundary of the land is a fine trout
brook. Norman and Mary have made most of the improvements with
their own hands." (40). '

Besides the removal of the porch, the Chandlers added a rear
shed dormer, restored sash, a new door on the north facade, a
new second story window in the west gable end, and a front door
bought at auction replaced the front door of the house (south
facade). Later 20th century changes include an east double
window i1n the north facade (early 1960's), new dormer windows in
the mid-1980's, and a new wing, designed by architect Chris
Williams, in the west gable end. (41). The character and fabric
of the house continues to the consistent with the Colonial
Revival restoration undertaken in the 1930's when it became a
summer home.

Today the house and adjacent barn stand close to the
intersection of Murray Hill and Brown Roads. Stone walls line
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the roads and most of the property lines. Nineteenth century
field delineations are not clear. A large hay field and meadow
extend down the slope to the rear of the house to a brook and
small pond which are visible from the house. Beyond the brook,
the fields have returned to woodland. The view of the Smith
River Valley and the mountains beyond is spectacular. Perennial
and vegetable gardens, sitting yards and a few old fruit trees
remain from the summer home period land use near the house.

The two and one half story clapboarded house has a wide shed
roofed dormer on the north facade and a one story, gable roofed
wing on the west end. The main house is set on a granite
foundation with cornerboard trim with moulded caps. The asphalt
shingled gable roof is trimmed by a wide box cornice with
mouldings, frieze and returns. The roof features a large
massive central brick chimney with capped flue, a small metal
sheathed scuttle on the south slope east of the chimney and a
wide, shed roofed dormer covering much of the north slope. The
dormer has clapboarded walls, cornerboards, simple box cornice
with frieze, a low pitched roof, and three casement windows
(central single window and flanking double windows), with six
pane sash and simple mouldings.

The five bay front (south) facade has a central entry six
panel door flanked by five pane two-thirds sidelights above
panels and granite step. A moulded lintel and moulded cornice
with a deep frieze sit above the door and its sidelights. The
three public facades have, with two exceptions, plain framed
nine over six windows with louvred shutters. One six over three
sash window lights the second story west gable end (a
replacement for a taller window that had to be shortened when
the wing was added). The four bay first story of the north
facade includes a large twenty-eight pane window in the center,
a double window with nine over six sash and louvred shutters on
each side and a multipane glass door with wooden frame and
granite step at the east end. The basement level is accessible
from the east side of the east gable end via a low plain framed
board door accessed through a stone walled passageway through
the earth bank.
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The new wing addition is offset to the north on the west
facade of the house. It is set on a concrete foundation, which
is exposed on parts of the west and north facades. 1Its
clapboarded walls are trimmed by cornerboards and a plain box
cornice with vents in the soffits, simple mouldings, and
returns. A small plain brick chimney is found on the north
slope of the asphalt shingled gable roof. The three bay south
facade has an off-center entry, a plain framed four panel door
shelterd by a small gable roofed entry porch. The porch has a
board floor, granite steps flanked by wrought metal railings,
square corner posts with moulded caps, latticework sides, a box
cornice like that of the wing, a clapboarded gable, and an
asphalt shingled gable roof. A double window is located west of
the entry with a single window to the east, both with six over
six sash, plain frames, and louvred shutters. The west gable
end has a plain framed overhead door in its partially exposed
basement. The visible portion of the east gable end contains a
multipane glass door with wooden frame, a plain outer frame, and
a granite step.

6A. Chandler Barn, mid-late 19th century, contributing building.

The gable roofed two and one half story bank barn sits on a
fieldstone foundation which is exposed on the west, east and
north. The barn is sheathed with vertical board siding, and
decorated with plain cornice with frieze on the south gable and
open eaves with exposed rafters and fascia boards on the other
three sides. The roof is asphalt shingles. In the center of
the south gable end are large, wide and tall, sliding double
beaded board doors, mounted on an exterior metal rack beneath a
plain framed thirty pane transom window. The main facade is
completed by a sliding board door to the east of the main door,
and two six over six sash windows. Plain frames, or no trim at
all surround all of the barn windows which show a variety of
sash: five two pane windows, six nine pane windows, and one six
over six sash window. The basement level has two other entries:
a sliding board door with an exterior metal track in the east
facade, and a central modern overhead garage door in the north
gable end.
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6B. Schoolhouse, ca. 1832, contributing building.

In 1832 the town of New Chester voted a special tax which
raised $216.51 to build a schoolhouse in District #3, located on
the north side of the road opposite the cemetery. In 1889 the
schoolhouse was moved to its present site and continued in

opveration until 1910. Rev. John N. Murdock apparently arranged
for the relocation of the schoolhouse to make way for a new
house for one of his colleagues. In 1893 the schoolhouse was

renovated; work included mostly renovations to the interior, but
may have included new windows and doors. (42).

The lot on which the schoolhouse now stands was originally
part of the Lot #72 subdivisions. In 1812 a committee
established by the Grafton County Judge of Probate divided
William Murrayv's land south of the old road among the five sons
and four daughters. By 1815, Samuel Murray had acquired all of
the western portion from his siblings. In 1820, when the 1lot
was transferred to New Chester, a few acres of the east end of
this parcel remained in the hands of others. Later, John
Murdock acquired ownership of this entire parcel south of the
road. In 1930 the town deeded the lot to Harold Murdock; he sold
it to Mary Chandler in 1932. (43).

Today the schoolhouse has been restored and furnished by the
Chandler family and is used as a meeting space and study. It
sits back in a wooded glade at the intersection of Murray Hill
and Brown Roads. Late eighteenth century stone walls delineate
the property boundaries.

The small one story gable roofed vernacular schoolhouse is
set on a granite block foundation. The clapboarded walls are
trimmed with cornerboards, close verges with friezes, and open
lateral eaves with exposed rafters, fascia boards, and friezes.
Plain frames surround the windows and doors. The roof, sheathed
with asphalt shingles on the northeast and corrugated metal on
the southwest, is broken by a small brick chimney with concrete
cap at the northwest end of the ridge. The main facade is the
three bay southeast gable end which has a central six over six
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sash window and two virtually identical entries, each with a
four panel door with a granite step. The other three facades are
all two bays wide, each has two sixX over six sash windows.

6C. Wellhouse, late 1950's, non-contributing building.

Southwest of the schoolhouse stands the wellhouse, which
once served the Chandler House (#6) across the road. Dug about
1938, the well is now protected by a wellhouse built in the late
1950's to replace an earlier structure. (44) . The small half
story, gable roofed structure has horizontally boarded walls.
The corrugated metal gable roof has open eaves with fascia
boards, and reaches to within a foot of the ground on the
lateral sides. Small plain framed openings appear in both the
northeast and southwest gables. The northeast gable end also
has a plain framed board door held in place by wooden latches.

7. Harold Murdock/James Conant Home (Brookside), ca. 1829,
contributing building.

In 1829, Samuel Murray sold his nephew, Sewall Dickerson, 42
acres of land in the western portion of proprietor's lot $#72,
Alexandria. (45). By this time, lot #72 had been transferred
to the town of New Chester (later Hill). Sewall Dickerson named
his farm Brookside, for the brook which near the house site.

The stone wall which delineated the property boundary of 1829 is
still visible today, as is the stone wall marking the boundary
for lot #72. Throughout the nineteenth century, Sewall
Dickerson expanded his property holdings to 310 acres in 1870.
(46) . His farm was one of the largest in the region, producing
record amounts of wheat, corn, oats, wool, potatoes, orchard
produce, butter, cheese, hay and maple sugar. He had more milk
cows than anyone in the district (a peak of 8 in 1860), and good
numbers of sheep (31 in 1870). Some of his animals were sold
for slaughter; these numbers grew increasingly through the
nineteenth ¢entury as Dickerson grew elderly. (47).
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Sewall Dickerson died in November, 1862, leaving the
following estate to his wife, Hannah: "The Favor Pasture, so
called (50 acres), Land south of Murray Road (30 acres), Raino
Pasture (40 acres), Land and Buildings north of Murray Road (25
acres), Evans Land (3 acres), and 10 acres situated in
Alexandria." (48).

In October, 1873, Hannah Dickerson sold the Rev. John
Murdock five acres of land on both sides of Murray Hill Road
(three acres to the north and two acres to the south). (49) .
The property passed from John Murdock to his son, Harold, then
to James Conant in 1898 (50), and through a series of owners
into the twentieth century including Kenneth Murdock, grandson
of John Murdock. Today only three acres of the Sewall Dickerson
farm remain with the farmhouse and barn, retaining the setting
and character of the property as it was at the close of the
period of significance.

The house is situated close to Murray Hill Road amidst open
hay fields. A small lawn and a centrally located capped well
separate the house from the road. No stone walls bound the road
in front of this parcel. The house is situated at the northern
end of a small plateau, behind which the land slopes drastically
to the north. Simple landscaping and a few large trees surround
the areas closest to the house.

Photographs of the house taken August, 1896 show that the
house had a small ell to the north of the cape, and sheds east
of the ell. By November of the same year the ell and sheds were
removed and construction had begun on a porch at the west gable
end (removed about 1940) and gable roofed dormers on both slopes
of the cape roof. By ca. 1928 a porch was built on the north
side, and a triple window was added to the west gable end. A
wide, shed roofed dormer on the north side of the gable roof
and the present wing were constructed. Circa 1940, the west
porch had been removed. After 1940 the west gable end was
shingled, a south gabled dormer was removed, a wing dormer was
added, and picture windows were added to the cape and the wing.
In 1987 a small entry porch was built on the wing. (51).

The main block of this vernacular wooden house is a cape with a
side shed roofed dormer on the rear (north) slope of its gable
roof. Attached to the east gable end of the cape, but offset to
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the north, is a long, one and one half story gable roofed wing.
A one story screened porch fills the northwest corner of the
cape and the wing. The wing has a small one story entry porch
on its south facade and is connected by a connector on its east
gable end to a small one story privy. The connector and privy,
which share a gable roof, have a narrow, one story, shed roofed
porch covering their south sides. North of the connector and
part of the wing is a small open wooden deck.

The cape sits on a granite block foundation except on the
north side where the foundation is fieldstone. The cape is
clapboarded on three sides and wooden shingled on the west gable
end. Cornerboards, close verges, and lateral box cornices with
mouldings and friezes trim the walls. The northern box cornice
is simpler than the more public southern cornice. A tall
central brick chimney breaks the asphalt shingled gable roof.
The north slope of the roof is almost entirely covered with a
wide dormer which is clapboarded with cornerboards, a lateral
box cornice with mouldings, and frieze, and shallow moulded
‘gable' cornices, beneath a low pitched shed roof. The three
bay north side of the dormer has a central single window and
flanking double windows, all with six over six sash and plain
frames. In the center of the cape's five bay front (south)
facade is a four panel door with a four pane transom window,
whose plain frame rises to the cornice. The door now has
louvred shutters and a concrete step. To each side of the entry
are found pairs of nine over six sash windows with louvred
shutters and plain frames that butt up against the frieze of the
cornice. The windows of the two bay gable ends have lintels
with drip mouldings and with one exception, louvred shutters.
Each gable contains two six over six sash windows. The southern
window in both main levels is a nine over six sash window. The
northern main level window is a small single pane window in the
east gable end and a triple window with nine over six sash in
the west gable end. The east gable end also has a wooden
bulkhead with fieldstone base and a plain framed wooden door.
The five bay rear (north) facade still has three nine over six
sash windows, but also has a large, wide plate glass picture
window and a paneled door with builtin nine pane window. The
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plain frames of the windows butt up against the cornice. The
north door opens onto the screened porch that covers the eastern
third of the cape's north facade and overlaps the wing's west
facade to the north. The two bay wide, two bay deep porch has a
concrete block foundation with board frieze, a carpeted board
floor, square wooden posts, balustrades with square balusters
and moulded rails, a shallow moulded cornice on the boarded east
half gable, a lateral box cornice with mouldings and frieze, and
a low pitched roof that is hipped on the west, but is a shed
roof on the east.

The long wing is set on a fieldstone and concrete block
foundation, trimmed by cornerboards,close eaves and verges, the
walls are sheathed with clapboards on the south and west, and
with wooden shingles on the north and east. It is believed that
a former carriage house was moved from elsewhere on the property
and converted into the present wing, probably between 1896 and
1928. The ridge of the asphalt shingled gable roof is
interrupted by a brick chimney with tapered cap. At the east
end of the roof's north slope is found a dormer with clapboarded
walls, cornerboards, a double window with six over six sash and
plain frame, a lateral box cornice with mouldings and frieze,
close moulded verges, and a low pitched shed roof. Most of the
wing's windows have lintels with drip mouldings. Three windows
and all of the doors have plain frames. The public south facade
has three nine over six sash windows with louvred shutters, a
large plate glass picture window and a paneled door with
multipane window. This southern door is now sheltered by a
small entry porch with concrete floor, square corner posts,
latticework sides, a board ceiling, close eaves and verges, a
clapboarded gable and an asphalt shingled gable roof. The
wing's west gable end has another paneled door with multipane
window, opening onto the screened porch. The rear north facade
has four windows of wvaried types with three over three sash, six
over six sash, nine over six sash and a large plate glass
picture window, as well as a modern metal bulkhead with concrete
block base. The east gable end has a nine over six sash window
in both the main level and the gable, and another paneled door
with multipane window, opening onto the privy's connector.
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The privy and the connector share the same gable roof,
sheathed with asphalt roll paper and trimmed by a plain cornice
with frieze in the east gable and by open lateral eaves with
exposed rafters, fascia boards, and friezes. The connector has
a board floor and a board ceiling with exposed rafters. The
privy's walls are sheathed by wooden shingles. The privy 1is
served by a western board door opening onto the connector and is
1lit by a northern nine pane window and an eastern two pane
window. Covering the south sides of the privy and the connector
is a narrow porch, set on wooden posts. The porch has board
floor and ceiling, latticework covering the south side, open
eaves with exposed rafters and fascia boards, and a shed roof
covered with asphalt roll paper. On the north side of the
connector and extending a few feet along the north side of the
wing is a small, square open wooden deck, set on wooden posts,
with board floor and steps and simple wooden railings.

7A. Shed, post 1960, non-contributing building.

Set just two feet east of the privy is the small, one story
shed. Set on concrete blocks, the shed is sheathed with
vertically grooved plywood and trimmed with cornerboards. The
low pitched shed roof is trimmed by open eaves with exposed
rafters, fascia boards and frieze, and is sheathed with asphalt
roll paper. The only opening is a set of plain framed double
board doors in the lateral east facade.

8. Mosher House, 1962, non-contributing building.

This house is situated on a small, open hillock on the south
side of Murray Hill Road. A small stone wall runs along the
road in front of the house. A dirt driveway leaves the road and
runs east of the house to a small parking area/turnaround near
the building.

Built about 1962 for Vern Mosher, this mid 20th century
vernacular house has seen no exterior changes since its
construction. (52). The one and one half story clapboarded
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residence has a wide shed roofed wall dormer on the south (rear)
slope of its gable roof, and a small one story basement
vestibule on its east gable end. Set on a high concrete block
foundation, and trimmed by cornerboards, the walls are sheathed
by wide clapboards ornamented by narrow mouldings on the inner
edges of the cornerboards and the lower edges of the friezes of
the box cornice which has its own mouldings. The lower corners
of the gable cornices are simply curved to meet the lateral
cornices. Simply moulded frames surround the two over two sash
windows and the doors. Asphalt shingles sheath the roof.

The north facade features a central paneled door with three
built-in windows, served by concrete steps with wrought metal
railings. East of the entry is a shallow bowed oriel window,
whose twenty panes have simply moulded frames beneath a shallow
moulded cornice. All of the panes are fixed with the exception
of two hinged two pane sections at the upper corners of the
window. West of the entry is a double window with two over two
sash. The same sash is found in the single windows of the two
bay west gable end and the three bay east gable end. The east
gable end also has a tall exterior brick chimney with high
concrete block base, one tapered shoulder, and concrete capped
flues. The basement level of the east gable end is served by
the small basement vestibule, with its concrete block walls,
plywood gable, plain wooden door in the east gable end, close
eaves and verges, and asphalt shingled gable roof. The rear
facade of the house has two more single windows, a double
window, and another paneled door with built-in window. The rear
door is served by a wooden landing with board base, floor and
step, and short side balustrades with square balusters and
simple rails. The door is sheltered by a simple hood with plain
braces, close eaves and verges and an asphalt shingled shed
roof. The wall dormer that stretches across most of the south
slope of the roof has the same wall and eave treatment as the
main block and contains more two over two sash windows with
simply moulded frames, a central single window and two double
windows. Although of recent construction, the scale, materials,
massing, and siting of the structure are consistent with the
properties surviving from the period of significance.
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9. Murray Hill Road Cemetery, Ca. 1800, contributing site.

The Murray Hill Road cemetery sits on the south side of
Murray Hill Road across from the Ida Hope Home (# 10). The
cemetery consists of a 1 acre lot which irregularly rises up the
side of Dickinson Hill. The lot is surrounded by early
nineteenth century stone walls and secondary growth forest. A
small brook runs along the eastern edge of the cemetery. Large
maples and ash shade the stones; ferns, low bush blueberries,
and other native groundcovers carpet the graves. A few cut
granite blocks cap the stone wall along the roadside; a wooden
picket gate, large enough for a cart to pass, forms the access
to the cemetery grounds. Iron hinges and an iron latch decorate
the two leafs of the gate.

The cemetery contains the remains of many of the Murray Hill
Road farm families, including the Adams, Emmons, Bartlett,
Tenney, Follansbee, Murray and Dickerson family plots. The
earliest stone, that of Shuah, wife of Samuel Follansbee, 1is
dated 1797. All other stones date from the early to mid
nineteenth century (1803-1868). Ninety percent of the stones
are granite or slate; two marble stones have been installed
recently to replace earlier stones which were lost. The
gravestone art on most stones is quite intricate, including
cobwebs, urns, weeping willow trees and decorative borders, all
of which were typical for their period, but suprisingly
sophisticated for the remoteness of this cemetery. Most of the
stones are in excellent condition, two or three have fallen, and
some have lost their inscriptions due to weathering of the
stone.

The Murray Hill Road Cemetery is a well-preserved relic of
the early to mid nineteenth century agricultural period of the
district. Although not actively utilized for burials during the
period of significance, the cemetery retains its integrity from
that time period and contributes to the district's
significance. (The cemetery's significance for artwork and
design has not yet been evaluated.)
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10. Ida Hope Home (Ornee Lodge), 1913, contributing building.

This house was built for Ida Hope, aunt of Mrs. Harold
Murdock, in 1913. The name of the architect is not known.

Other additions to the original house include a second story
east window on the north facade, and a central window in the
north wing. (53).

This house occupies the lot where the schoolhouse once
stood, and originally was part of the Sewall Dickerson farm,
Brookside. (Proprietor's lot #72, Alexandria).

Today, the house sits some distance from the road and
adjoining stone wall, surrounded by a front yard, rear hay
fields, and several large evergreens.

This shingle style wooden house consists of a two story main
block with a two story bay window on its south facade, a small
one story wing covering its east end, and a small one story wing
on its north side (both wings were added subsequent to the
initial construction, but certainly by the end of the 1920's).
One all-encompassing roof covers the main block and the wings,
rising from a hip roof on the wings to a gable-on-hip roof on
the main block.

The main portion of the house and the two wings share
fieldstone and concrete foundations, wooden shingled walls,
plain window trim, close board trimmed eaves, close verges
covered with wooden shingles, and asphalt shingled roofs. The
main block's shingled walls are recessed slightly in the central
portion of the first story between the bay window and entry
door. The small triangular gable walls of its gable-on-hip roof
are sheathed with vertical boarding. The south slope of the
main block roof is interrupted by the second level of the bay
window as it rises above the eaves to terminate in a hip roof to
the west and also by a large hip roofed dormer to the east, In
addition, a tall, wide brick chimney with capped flue rises near
the center of the main roof. The hip roofed dormer has wooden
shingled walls, a quadruple casement window with diamond paned,
leaded glass windows, close eaves, and an asphalt shingled
roof. The most prominent feature of the main block's south
facade is the rectangular bay window complete with leaded glass
casement windows on both stories (quintuple window on the front
flanked by single windows on each side). The first story windows
have 24 pane sash; the second story have diamond paned sash.

The main entry occupies the east bay of the main block and
consists of a beaded board door with a simply moulded frame,
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concrete steps, and a hood with plain braces, wooden shingled
half gables and verges, close board trimmed lateral eaves, and
an asphalt shingled shed roof. Leaded glass windows cover the
balance of the front (south) facade, with a quadruple casement
window with diamond sash in the first story between the bay
window and the main entry, a high triple window with twelve pane
sash in the first story west of the bay window, and a triple
window with diamond panes in the upper story above the entry.
The east facade has a double window with diamond pane sash in
the second story; the west facade has a triple window with 24
pane sash in the first story and a quadruple window with diamond
paned sash in the second story, as well as a beaded board door
with simple moulded frame, which opens onto a one-story screened
porch. This porch is set on concrete posts with a board frieze
beneath the board floor, square wooden posts, large screened
panels, a beaded board ceiling and close eaves. Screen doors
and wooden steps open from the central bays of the north and
south sides.

The north facade is 1lit with a quadruple and a double
casement window, both with diamond pane leaded sash on the first
story, a double casement window with leaded sash, and a triple
casement window with l<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>